90851-6 ORIGINAL

No. 44328-7-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EARL VERNON, individually and as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF HENRY DAVID VERNON,

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Earl Vernon, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Henry David Vernon, asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II below.

II. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The petitioner before this Court, Earl Vernon, filed a lawsuit in Pierce County Superior Court to recover economic and non-economic damages for the wrongful death of his disabled brother Henry David Vernon.¹ The defendant, Aacres Allvest, LLC ("Aacres"), who operated an assisted living facility, recklessly caused the death of David by locking him in a bedroom during the massive heat wave of 2009 without any fresh air circulation. The defendant successfully moved to dismiss, arguing that David could not recover for his damages because he had no statutory beneficiaries.

On appeal, Division Two reversed dismissal of the economic damages and affirmed dismissal of the noneconomic damages.² Earl now petitions this court to review the latter.

Division Two held that the noneconomic damages were properly dismissed because (1) Earl lacked standing as a beneficiary under the wrongful death statutes, (2) Earl's claim that the wrongful death statute is unconstitutional fails because the statute does not create a cause of action for deceased persons, and (3) Earl failed to preserve the claim that David

¹ This brief refers to David and his brother Earl by their first names to avoid confusion.

² Vernon v. Aacres Allvest, LLC, No. 44328-7-II, at 14 (Sept. 3, 2014).

should be considered a minor for the purpose of the wrongful death statute.³

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court?
- B. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because a significant question under the Federal and Washington State Constitutions is involved?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Underlying Facts.

On July 29, 2009, Henry David Vernon, a 55 year-old deaf, mute, and cognitively disabled man under the care of Aacres, was found unresponsive in his room by members of Aacres' staff during one of the worst recorded heat waves.⁴ Attempts to resuscitate him were unsuccessful, and David was later pronounced dead at the hospital. ⁵ His body temperature had risen to 107 degrees Fahrenheit, causing his vital organs to shut down and stop working.

David was born disabled and had severe cognitive disabilities.⁶ He suffered from aphasia, mild mental retardation, and schizophrenia.⁷ Even the simplest tasks were difficult for him, and he lacked the ability to appreciate the consequences of his actions and decisions.⁸ David was

³ Id. at 6-7, 10-14.

⁴ CP at 205.

⁵ CP at 205.

⁶ CP at 200-201.

⁷ CP at 3.

⁸ CP at 203.

never able to live independently, and his disabilities required him to have special care from the beginning of his life.⁹

David was completely dependent on Aacres for his health and safety needs.¹⁰ He did not have the capability to understand how to care for himself, or to understand situations that were unsafe.¹¹ David could not take his own medicine, did not understand money, and needed reminders and prompts to complete the most basic daily tasks, such as shaving or taking a shower.¹² He could not ride the bus, go on a walk, or go anywhere on his own because he had little sense of direction or personal safety.¹³ He needed people to help him make all kinds of decisions.¹⁴ For example, when his brother Earl took David out to eat, Earl would have to remind him to stop eating because he was incapable of realizing he should stop eating when he became full.¹⁵ David's yearly support plan noted that David was not always aware of his health and safety needs and that he could make choices but lacked any awareness of consequences to those choices.¹⁶ His disabilities limited him in such a way that he was determined to be legally incapacitated.¹⁷ This meant David lacked the ability to give informed consent and was legally unable

- ⁹ CP at 201.
- ¹⁰ CP at 203.
- ¹¹ CP at 203.
- ¹² CP at 203.
- ¹³ CP at 203.
- ¹⁴ CP at 203.
- ¹⁵ CP at 203.
- ¹⁶ CP at 202. ¹⁷ CP at 142.

to do things like enter into contracts, buy or sell property, and get married.¹⁸

Aacres staffed the home where David lived full time, which provided general supervision, administered medications, and assisted with daily tasks such as washing and eating meals. As a facility that received state funding, Aacres was provided with literature that set forth objectives and instructions for how to properly care for disabled adults in home settings.¹⁹ With this aid and supervision, David was able to enjoy life, hold a job, go out with friends, go to church, and be active in his community.²⁰

In the days leading up to David's death, the Pacific Northwest was on the brink of an unprecedented heat wave.²¹ This was well known from extensive media coverage in the area, and warnings were issued by local health officials. The National Weather Service issued warnings for the "hazardous" weather conditions throughout the week, culminating with its "PRECAUTIONARY/PREPAREDNESS ACTIONS" alert issued on July 29, 2009, the day David tragically died.²² This alert read as follows:

AN EXCESSIVE HEAT WARNING MEANS THAT A PROLONGED PERIOD OF DANGEROUSLY HOT TEMPERATURES WILL OCCUR. THE COMBINATION OF HOT TEMPERATURES AND HIGH HUMIDITY WILL COMBINE TO CREATE A DANGEROUS SITUATION IN WHICH HEAT ILLNESSES ARE LIKELY. DRINK

¹⁸ CP at 142.

¹⁹ CP at 149-162.

²⁰ CP at 4.

²¹ CP at 205, 164-185.

²² CP at 171.

PLENTY OF FLUIDS...STAY IN AN AIR-CONDITIONED ROOM . . . STAY OUT OF THE SUN . . . AND CHECK UP ON RELATIVES AND NEIGHBORS.²³

(Capitalization in original). As predicted, temperatures reached the upper 90s for days in a row and exceeded 100 degrees Fahrenheit in some parts.²⁴ Record highs were reached in multiple towns throughout Western Washington, and the temperature in Tacoma swelled to as high as 104 degrees Fahrenheit.²⁵

David was particularly vulnerable to severe weather because one of his daily medications, Paxil, has the known side effect of inhibiting one's ability to keep their core temperature down.²⁶ Despite ample warning of the impending heat wave and knowledge of David's medications, Defendant Aacres did next to nothing to protect David.²⁷ David's room was in the second story and was not air conditioned.²⁸ He had a fan but the windows were painted shut and could not be opened.²⁹ On the night when David passed, Aacres failed to check on his wellbeing.³⁰ Only in the morning did Aacres discover that David was unresponsive and unable to be resuscitated.³¹ The emergency personnel who responded reported that David's room was "very hot."³² During the subsequent medical examination, David's body was found to have 16

- ²³ CP at 171.
- ²⁴ CP at 182-185.
- ²⁵ CP at 182-185.
- ²⁶ CP at 205, 188.
- ²⁷ CP at 3-6, 205-207.
- ²⁸ CP at 205.
- ²⁹ CP at 206.
- ³⁰ CP at 206.
- ³¹ CP at 188, 205.
- ³² CP at 188, 205.

times the therapeutic dosage of Paxil.³³ At his time of death, David's core body temperature was 107 degrees Fahrenheit, caused by the excessive heat and the overdose of his medication.³⁴ His cause of death was exogenous hyperthermia.³⁵

Aacres failed to properly supervise, protect, and ensure the safety of David. David does not leave behind a spouse, children, or any dependents. As his closest surviving relative, Earl brought a lawsuit to hold Aacres responsible for negligently causing the death of David.

B. Procedural History.

Earl, individually and as the personal representative of the Estate, filed a complaint on July 10, 2012, in Pierce County Superior Court.³⁶ The complaint alleged that David's death and the pain and suffering he experienced was the direct and proximate result of Aacres' gross negligence in its care, supervision, and treatment.³⁷ The complaint further alleged that Aacres' neglect violated the Vulnerable Adult Statute, Chapter 74.34 RCW. The complaint sought both economic and noneconomic damages.³⁸

Soon after filing, Aacres propounded Requests for Admission.³⁹ Earl admitted that (1) he was not dependent on David for support at the time of his death; (2) David is not survived by a spouse, a child, or

³⁶ CP at 1.

³⁸ CP at 5-6.

³³ CP at 188, 195.

³⁴ CP at 188, 195.

³⁵ CP at 189.

³⁷ CP at 5.

³⁹ CP at 38-41.

children; (3) David was not survived by parents, sisters, or brothers who were dependent on David for support at the time of his death; and (4) David does not have any statutory beneficiaries under Chapter 4.20 RCW.⁴⁰

On November 16, Aacres moved for summary judgment.⁴¹ Aacres argued that Earl could not maintain either a wrongful death or survival action because he was not an eligible beneficiary under Chapter 4.20 RCW.⁴² Earl responded by arguing that Aacres was negligent as a matter of law for failing to properly supervise, protect, and ensure David's safety.⁴³ Earl also argued that the court should reject Aacres' beneficiary arguments and allow the recovery of economic and noneconomic damages.⁴⁴

On December 14, 2012, the Pierce County Superior Court heard Aacres' motion for summary judgment.⁴⁵ After hearing arguments, the trial court stated:

And I think the facts here are pretty compelling. At least on the face of it, there's some severe negligence. This guy died for no good reason I can see. However, I have to agree with Mr. Leitch that the law, good, bad, or indifferent, isn't really unclear here. There are certain categories of beneficiaries and Mr. Vernon is not one of them. I don't think there's too much dispute that he wasn't dependent, not a child, not a parent.

⁴⁰ CP at 39.

⁴¹ CP at 19.

⁴² CP at 22-26.

⁴³ CP at 58-60

⁴⁴ CP at 60-68.

⁴⁵ RP (December 14, 2012) at 3.

So I'm going to reluctantly grant the motion for summary judgment. This will be a great case, I think, for the Supreme Court to maybe expand the purview of the statute.

. . .

I hope the plaintiff appeals and if I get reversed on this, it won't bother me in the slightest.⁴⁶

As a result, the trial court dismissed the lawsuit, and Earl filed his timely notice of appeal on December 19, 2012.

On September 3, 2014, Division Two reversed dismissal of Earl's claims for economic damages but affirmed dismissal of his claims for noneconomic damages. Earl submits this timely petition for review.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b)(4) provides that review will be accepted where the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that the Court should determine. Here, this petition involves Division Two's refusal to expand the common law to allow David's estate to recover noneconomic damages, such as pain and suffering, based on this Court's refusal in *Philippides v. Bernard*, 151 Wn.2d 376, 88 P.3d 939 (2004), to recognize the existence of a wrongful death cause of action at common law. *Philippides* was based on a historical misconception and wrongfully decided, and the resulting rule—as evidence by Division Two's decision—has caused untold harm to severely disabled individuals like David.

⁴⁶ RP (December 14, 2012) at 8:9-13, 13:25-15:12.

In a similar vein, RAP 13.4(b)(3) provides that review will be accepted where a significant question of law under the Washington State Constitution is involved. Here, Division Two's decision also involves a significant constitutional question regarding access to the courts.

A. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because Earl's petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should determine.

In this case, Earl asked Division Two to recognize a common law cause of action allowing the estate to recover noneconomic damages. In rejecting Earl's request, Division Two acknowledged that this Court rejected a similar argument "regarding *a different* but rather similar statute" in *Philippides*, 151 Wn.2d at 376. *Vernon*, slip. Op. at 6 (emphasis added). There, this Court declined to adopt "a common law cause of action for loss of consortium for parents of adult children" [under RCW 4.24.010]. 151 Wn.2d at 390. Accordingly, this case presents an issue of first impression: Whether the Court should recognize a common law cause of action for recovery of noneconomic damages despite the absence of a statutory beneficiary under RCW 4.20.020, Washington's wrongful death statute.

Petitioner recognizes, however, that this Court will likely look to *Philippides* for guidance. Indeed, Petitioner implores this Court to revisit *Philippides*, given that its reasoning flows from erroneous underpinnings and its result has resulted in significant harm to Washington citizens—particularly the disabled—giving rise to an issue of substantial public interest.

Philippides rejected the call to adopt a "common law course of action for loss of consortium for parents of adult children" based on its observation that "causes of action for wrongful death are strictly a matter of legislative grace and are not recognized in the common law." 151 Wn.2d at 390. Thus, the court reasoned that—with wrongful death actions rooted only in statutory, not common, law—it was without authority to adopt such a cause of action. *Id.*

However, the *Philippides* court's reasoning only compounded a historical misconception under which Washington courts have labored: That wrongful death claims are purely statutory in nature and were not recognized at common law. Even the United States Supreme Court has rejected this very proposition. In *Moragne v. States Marine Lines, Inc.*, 398 U.S. 375, 90 S. Ct. 1772, 26 L.Ed.2d 339 (1970), the Supreme Court examined the origins of the so-called "common-law rule against recovery for wrongful death," observing that it was first explicitly pronounced—without any citation to authority or supporting reasoning—by Lord Ellenborough in *Baker v. Bolton*, 1 Camp. 493, 170 Eng. Rep. 1033 (1808): "("[I]n a civil court the death of a human being could not be complained of as an injury."⁴⁷ *Moragne*, 398 U.S. at 382.

After examining English law, the Supreme Court observed that the "sole substantial basis" for the English rule was the English "felony-

⁴⁷ This unsupported assertion, in turn, became the basis for the pronouncement in many later American cases that there could be no recovery for wrongful death in the absence of a statute. See Lafage v. Jani, 766 A.2d 1066, 1076, 166 N.J. 412 (2001).

merger" doctrine.⁴⁸ *Id.* After surveying both American and English law, the Supreme Court further observed that "the historical justification marshaled for the [felony-merger] rule in England *never existed in this country at all.*" 398 U.S. at 384 (emphasis added).⁴⁹

Indeed, several early American decisions rejected the English rule against wrongful death claims and evidence a common law right to sue for wrongful death in this country. *See Cross v. Guthery*, 2 Root 90 (Conn. 1794); *Piscatauqua Bank v. Turnley*, 1 Miles 312 (Phila. Dist. Ct. 1836); *Ford v. Monroe*, 20 Wend. 210 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1838); *James v. Christy*, 18 Mo. 162 (1853); *Kate v. Horton*, 2 Haw. 209 (1860); *Sullivan v. Union Pac. R.R. Co.*, 23 F. Cas. 368, 371 (Cir. Ct. Neb. 1874); *see also* Wex S. Malone, *The Genesis of Wrongful Death*, 17 Stan. L. Rev. 1043, 1055 (1965). As for the American courts that applied the rule "without much question," the *Moragne* court observed that those courts' reason for doing so was "simply that [the English rule] had the blessing of age." 398 U.S. at 386. Accordingly, the *Moragne* court held that a widow had a common law right to damages for the wrongful death of her husband. 398 U.S. at 376-378.

⁴⁸ Under this doctrine, English courts held that, because a tort against a private person was less important than a criminal offense against the Crown, private suits for damages arising from an act that also constituted a crime were preempted by the criminal action. *Moragne*, 398 U.S. at 382. The practical effect of the felony-merger doctrine was that civil wrongful death actions simply were not filed because all felons were subject to the death penalty, and their property was forfeited to the Crown; nothing remained for a civil litigant to recover as damages. *Id*.

⁴⁹ Indeed, The common law right to sue for wrongful death is evidenced by several early American decisions that allowed wrongful death actions. *See Cross v. Guthrey*, 2 Root 90, 92 (Conn. 1794); *Ford v. Monroe*, 20 Wend. 210 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1838); *James v. Christy*, 18 Mo. 162, 163-64 (1853); *Kake v. Horton*, 2 Haw. 209, 212-13 (1860); *Sullivan v. Union Pac. R.R. Co.*, 23 F. Cas. 368, 371 (Cir. Ct. Neb. 1874).

Although *Moragne* focused on the right to sue for wrongful death under maritime law, numerous state courts have followed its lead; rejected the blind recitation of the unsound, unsupported English rule; and recognized the existence of a wrongful death cause of action at common law. Most recently, in 2001, the New Jersey Supreme Court recognized that prior state precedent stating there was no common law wrongful death action was based on "*historical error of grave proportion*." *Lafage v. Jani*, 166 N.J. 412, 439, 766 A.2d 1066, (N.J. 2001) (emphasis added). In *Lafage*, the court found that New Jersey's wrongful death statutes are a codification of a common law wrongful death cause of action, thereby providing an independent basis despite no statutory basis for the court to allow equitable tolling of the state's wrongful death statutes.⁵⁰ *Id.* at 434.

Accordingly, Washington's erroneous refusal to recognize a cause of action for wrongful death at common law based on a decades-long historical misconception raises an issue of substantial public importance. The public importance of this issue is only heightened when considering its negative impact on some of Washington's most vulnerable citizen,

⁵⁰ The Lafage court is far from alone in its holding. See Gaudette v. Webb, 284 N.E.2d 222, 229 (Mass. 1972) ([T]he law in this Commonwealth has also evolved to the point where it may now be held that the right to recover for wrongful death is of common law origin, and we so hold. Consequently, our wrongful death statutes will no longer be regarded as "creating the right" to recover for wrongful death.); see also, Summerfield v. Maricopa County Superior Court, 698 P.2d 712, 716 (Ariz. 1985) (a common law wrongful death claim is not necessarily precluded by Arizona's wrongful death statutes in light of doubtful validity of Baker); Salazar v. St. Vincent Hosp., 619 P.2d 826 (N.M. App. 1980) (noting existence of common law right to recover for wrongful death in New Mexico); Haakanson v. Wakesfield Seafoods, Inc., 600 P.2d 1087 (Alaska 1979) (finding that Alaska's wrongful death statute is not in derogation of its common law, but stating that if there were no statute, the court would follow the lead of Moragne); Wilbon v. D.F. Bast Co., Inc., 382 N.E.2d 784, 785 (III. 1978) (Baker v. Bolton rule was "obviously unjust, . . . technically unsound . . . and based upon a misreading of legal history.")

namely, those like David who are severely developmentally disabled. Washington's wrongful death statutes grant a cause of action encompassing noneconomic damages, such as pain and suffering, only to "tier one beneficiaries" (spouses and children) or "tier two beneficiaries" (parents or siblings financial dependent on the decedent). RCW 4.20.020. Washington's survival statutes and even Washington's Vulnerable Adult Statute, chapter 74.34 RCW, incorporate RCW 4.20.020's "tiered beneficiaries only" approach to noneconomic damages. RCW 4.20.046(1) (general survival statute); RCW 4.20.060 (special survival statute); RCW 74.34.210 (Vulnerable Adult Statute).

The *de facto* effect of these statutory provisions and Washington courts' refusal to recognize a common law wrongful death cause of action is to deprive developmentally disabled citizens like David of the protections of Washington law. Severely disabled adults like David generally do not marry or have children; in fact, David was legally prohibited from marrying due to his cognitive disabilities. Likewise, David's profound cognitive disabilities rendered him incapable of employment, making it axiomatic that he could have *any* financial dependents, let along dependent parents or siblings, or economic losses, such as lost future earnings. The end result of this status quo is that tortfeasors responsible for the deaths of highly vulnerable individuals like David are largely immune from liability, and there is no mechanism to hold them truly accountable their negligence and the resulting horrific deaths of individuals like David. *See, e.g. Bennett v. Seattle Mental*

Health, 166 Wn. App. 477, 492, 269 P.3d 1079 (2012) (plaintiff was developmentally disabled adult with no wrongful death beneficiaries).

Indeed, the Court of Appeals has expressly recognized this exact injustice. In *Schumacher v. Williams*, 107 Wn. App. 793, 805, 28 P.3d 792 (2001), the Court of Appeals dismissed claims based on the death of Schumacher—an adult woman with Downs Syndrome who was scalded to death by a fellow resident of her boarding home—due to her lack of statutory beneficiaries. As Judge Ellington observed in a reluctant concurrence:

Once again we confront the flaws in the statutory scheme for survival of actions. Maria Schumacher is exactly the person the legislature set out to protect in enacting the vulnerable adults statute. But the statute did not protect her, because of the limitations of the survival statute.

Had Maria Schumacher survived her scalding bath, she would have had a cause of action under the statute. But when abuse or neglect results in death, instead of just injury, the wrong goes without remedy unless the deceased is survived by a spouse, a child, or *dependent* parents or siblings.

.... Maria Schumacher, as it happened, had neither wealth, nor spouse or children. So, her family is left without recourse, and those whose negligence allegedly led to her death are left unaccountable. In cases of vulnerable adults without statutory heirs, the message to caregivers seems to be that fatal negligence is preferable to mere injury.

Schumacher, 107 Wn. App. at 805 (Ellington, J., concurring). In the decade since *Philippides* was decided, and despite these explicit concerns

raised by the judiciary, however, the legislature has continued to ignore the needs of the disabled community, considering and failing to pass bills that would eliminate the financial dependence requirement for tier two beneficiaries. *See*, *e.g.*, H.B. Rep. on Engrossed Substitute H.B. 1873, 60th Leg. Sess. (Wash. 2008) (noting also that the legislature heard public testimony that the amendments were "important for people with disabilities").

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