A. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Earl Vernon, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Henry 

David Vern on ("Petitioner") has requested review of the Court of 

Appeals published opinion Vernon v. Aacres Allvest, LLC, No. 12-2-

10662-8, 2014 Wash. App., at *7-9 (Div. II. Sept. 3, 2014). A copy of 

the decision is in the Appendix at Exhibit A

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

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

1. WHILE THE FACTS OF THIS CASE ARE UNFORTUNATE, 
PETITIONER FAILS TO RAISE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL 
PUBLIC INTEREST 

Petitioner relies on RAP 13.4(b)(4), which states that the Court 

will accept review only "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 

13.4(b)(4). The Court should deny review as there is no discernible 

substantial public interest at issue here that requires the Court's action. 

The Court of Appeals held that it cannot recognize a common 

law wrongful death cause of action because doing so would conflict with 

the existing statutory framework and it is not the function of courts to 

modify legislative enactments. Vernon, No. 12-2-10662-8, 2014 Wash. 

App., at *7. 

In arguing his theory that Washington's statutory framework does 

not preclude a common law wrongful death claim, Petitioner asks the 

Court to ignore the fact that the Washington Supreme Court rejected an 

identical argument in Philippides v. Bernard. 151 Wn.2d 376, 88 P.3d 

939 (2004). As the Court of Appeals confirmed, The Supreme Court in 

Philippides rejected adopting a common law cause of action for 

wrongful death because doing so would create a direct conflict with the 

existing statutory scheme. Vernon, No. 12-2-10662-8,2014 Wash. App., 

at *7-9. 
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RCW 4.20.010 creates a right of action by the personal 

representative when a person's death is caused by a wrongful act, 

neglect, or default of another. However, RCW 4.20.020 specifically 

provides that only certain persons may maintain a wrongful death action. 

RCW 4.20.020 provides in pertinent part: 

Every such action shall be for the benefit of 
the wife, husband, state registered domestic 
partner, child or children, including 
stepchildren, ofthe person whose death shall 
have been so caused. If there be no wife, 
husband, state registered domestic partner, 
or such child or children, such action may be 
maintained for the benefit of the parents, 
sisters or brothers, who may be dependent 
upon the deceased person for support, and 
who are resident within the United States at 
the time of his death. 

In Washington, the Legislature has created a two-tier system of 

beneficiaries for purposes of a wrongful death action. Spouses and 

children of the decedent are the "first tier" beneficiaries while the 

decedent's parents and siblings constitute "second tier" beneficiaries. 

Vernon, No. 12-2-10662-8, 2014 Wash. App., at *7-9, citing Philippides, 

151 Wn.2d at 385- 386. Second tier beneficiaries are entitled to recover 

for the decedent's wrongful death only if there are no first tier 

beneficiaries and if the second tier beneficiary can demonstrate that he or 

she was dependent on the deceased for support. !d. 

Accepting Petitioner's position would work a significant change 

in the law, would essentially amend RCW 4.20, et seq. by implication, 
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and would require an interpretation of the wrongful death statute that is 

inconsistent with RCW 4.20, et seq. Survival of the action to the benefit 

of siblings who are not dependent on the decedent is not necessary to the 

legislative purpose. Schumacher v. Williams, 107 Wn. App. 793, 802,28 

P.3d 792 (2001). 

Petitioner relies on Moragne v. States Marine Lines, Inc,. for his 

argument that this Court should recognize a common law wrongful death 

cause of action. (Petition for Review at 10-12); 398 U.S. 375, 90S. Ct. 

1772, 26 L.Ed.2d 339 (1970). However, as Petitioner admits, Moragne 

focused on the right to sue for wrongful death under maritime law. 

(Petition for Review at 12). The Court in Moragne held that a widow 

had a common law right to damages for the wrongful death of her 

husband because maritime law did not afford a cause of action for 

wrongful death. Moragne, 398 U.S. at 376-378. Here, there are 

Washington statutes that explicitly provide for a cause of action for 

wrongful death. RCW 4.20, et seq. 

At common law, no cause of action survived the death of an 

individual, nor was there a right of recovery for wrongful death. As the 

Court of Appeals decision confirms, Washington's courts have long and 

repeatedly held causes of action for wrongful death and survival are 

strictly a matter of legislative grace and are not recognized in the 

common law. Vernon, No. 12-2-10662-8, 2014 Wash. App., at *7; see 

also Tait v. Wahl, 97 Wn. App. 769, 771, 987 P.2d 127 (1999). The 

Legislature has created a comprehensive set of statutes governing who 
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may recover for wrongful death and survival, and cases involving 

statutory interpretation require that the courts restrict themselves to a 

determination of the meaning of the statutory language in question. See 

Windust v. Dep 't. of Labor & Indus., 52 Wn.2d 33, 36, 323 P.2d 241 

(1958). "It is neither the function nor the prerogative of courts to modify 

legislative enactments." Anderson v. City of Seattle, 78 Wn.2d 201, 202, 

471 P.2d 87 (1970). 

In addition, courts are to extend the literal scope of such statutes 

only to protect beneficiaries clearly contemplated by the statute. !d. 

Absent ambiguity, a statute's meaning is derived from the language of the 

statute and the court must give effect to that plain meaning as an 

expression of legislative intent. Dep 't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, 

LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10,43 P.3d 4 (2002). If the meaning of a statute is 

plain on its face, the inquiry ends. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 

110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). The court should "not assume that the 

Legislature intended to effect a significant change in the law by 

implication." Schumacher, 107 Wn. App. at 801. 

The current wrongful death and survival statutes are modern 

versions of predecessor statutes, some of which date back over a hundred 

years. For example, RCW 4.20.010 and RCW 4.20.020 are traceable to 

Rem. Rev. Stats. §§ 183 and 183-1, respectively. See Mitchell v. Rice, 

183 Wash. 402, 48 P.2d 949 (1935) (quoting and interpreting these 

statutes). Throughout the long history of these wrongful death and 

survival statutes, second tier beneficiaries have been required to prove 
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they were dependent on the decedent for support in order to qualify for 

relief. 

A review of the history of the wrongful death and survival of 

action statutes reveals a consistent conservatism on the part of the 

Legislature with regard to the beneficiaries of those statutes. The 

beneficiaries under both the survival and the wrongful death statutes 

have never included siblings who are not dependent on the decedent for 

support. Schumacher, 107 Wn. App. at 802. 

In Schumacher, Maria, who had Downs Syndrome, was a 

resident of an adult boarding home that was privately owned and 

operated by the Williams. The facility was licensed by the Washington 

State Department of Health. On May 31, 1997, Maria sustained a severe 

hot-water burn injury while taking a bath with the assistance of another 

resident. The facility failed to have staff members supervising the 

residents at the time of the incident. Maria died eight days later as a 

result ofthe bums. Schumacher, 107 Wn. App. at 796. 

As a result of the injuries and death of Maria, Maria's brother, 

Charles Schumacher, filed an action as personal representative of 

Maria's estate, and individually, seeking recovery against the Williams, 

the boarding home, and the State. Schumacher based his claims upon the 

abuse of vulnerable adults statute, chapter 74.34 RCW; the Civil Rights 

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (1994); the Americans with Disabilities Act of 
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1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12132 (1995); and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,29 

U.S.C. § 794 (1999). Id. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's holding that the 

estate had no recognized statutory beneficiaries under Washington's 

wrongful death and survival of action statutes which precluded recovery 

for the estate and Mr. Schumacher individually. Schumacher, 107 Wn. 

App. at 804-805. Thus, because the brother was not dependent on the 

deceased for support, he was not a statutory beneficiary and summary 

judgment was granted against the estate on all claims. ld. 

Here, like the Plaintiff in Schumacher, Petitioner cannot establish 

any evidence that shows he had a substantial financial dependency on the 

decedent. Rather, the evidence clearly shows the opposite - that 

Petitioner did not rely on the deceased for any support. Although 

Petitioner is the surviving brother of the decedent, he admitted in his 

responses to Respondent's Requests for Admission that he was "not 

dependent on [his] brother (David Vernon) for support at the time of 

Henry David Vernon's death." CP at 40. 

Washington case law and the unambiguous statutes clearly set 

forth the beneficiary requirements to bring suit. Petitioner admitted that 

he does not qualify as a beneficiary under the wrongful death and 

survival statutes and thus he does not qualify to bring a private action 

related to his brother's death. This Court may not amend an 

unambiguous statute merely because the Court may believe that the 
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Legislature intended something else, but failed to express it adequately. 

Masunaga v. Gapasin, 57 Wn. App. 624, 629-630, 790 P .2d 171 (1990), 

review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1012 (1990). 

In sum, Petitioner has not explained why unambiguous statutory 

law confirmed by the Washington Supreme Court should be revisited by 

this Court. There is no public interest involved in needlessly engaging in 

settled (for decades) wrongful death and survival law in Washington 

where there is apparently no applicable authority for a similar theory as 

that espoused by Petitioner. Given the uniformity of the law, there is no 

need for the Supreme Court to use its limited resources in further 

considering the issue, and review should be denied. 

2. THERE IS NO QUESTION UNDER EITHER THE FEDERAL OR 
STATE CONSTITUTIONS FOR THIS COURT TO CONSIDER 

Petitioner argues that review is required under RAP 13.4(b)(3) 

because prohibiting the decedent's recovery violates his constitutional 

right of access to the courts. (Petition for Review at 16). 

As the Court of Appeals confirmed, the decedent IS not 

unconstitutionally denied a right of access to the courts because the 

decedent: (1) cannot pursue an action in the courts post mortem; (2) has 

no constitutional right of access to the judiciary post mortem; and 

(3) does not maintain any constitutional rights post mortem. 

In arguing that RCW 4.20.020's limitation on beneficiaries 

unconstitutionally restricts a decedent's access to the courts, Petitioner 

repeats the arguments rejected by the Court of Appeals Division III in 
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Triplett v. Dep't of Soc & Health Servs., 166 Wn. App. 423, 429, 268 

P.3d 1027 (2012), review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1003, 278 P.3d 1111 

(20 12). (Petition for Review at 18). In rejecting Petitioner's arguments, 

the Court of Appeals adopted the reasoning in Triplett. Vernon, No. 12-

2-10662-8,2014 Wash. App., at *11. 

The appellate court held in Triplett the "access-to-courts 

argument has no merit ... [ s ]ince a person who is dead cannot pursue an 

action, it is absurd to suggest that the wrongful death statute unlawfully 

restricts their access to the courts." Triplett, 166 Wn. App. at 429. 

There, the mother and brother of the decedent argued that the applicable 

statutes limiting recovery to statutory beneficiaries unconstitutionally 

restricted the decedent's access to courts. Triplett, 166 Wn. App. at 429. 

The court disagreed and held that the statutory framework designated 

persons with standing to pursue a remedy on behalf of the deceased 

person. Triplett, 166 Wn. App. at 429. The statutory framework, as 

such, does not create a constitutional right. Triplett, 166 Wn. App. at 

429. Accordingly, the access-to-courts argument failed. 

The holding in Triplett is consistent with the principle that 

Washington's wrongful death statutes create causes of action only for 

specific surviving beneficiaries of the deceased and which only begin at 

the death of the decedent. Otani ex ref. Shigaki v. Broudy, 15I Wn.2d 

750, 755-756, 92 P.3d I92 (2004). The general survival statute 

preserves all causes of action that a decedent could have brought had he 

or she survived. !d. 
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The statutory framework that provides the causes of action for 

wrongful death and survival actions does not create a constitutional right 

for the decedent to pursue a cause of action. The remedial framework 

requires that second tier beneficiaries demonstrate dependency on the 

decedent. RCW 4.20.020; .046; .060. Thus, Petitioner's argument has 

no merit as the decedent has no right to access to the court post mortem 

and therefore, there is no constitutional right to violate. 

F. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's 

dismissal of Petitioner's unsupported and unworkable theory of recovery 

under the wrongful death statutes. Petitioner has not offered any 

compelling reason for the Court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals' published opinion; thus, the Court should deny the petition for 

review. 
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No Shepard's SignaJTM 

As of: October 13, 2014 2:16PM EDT 

Vernon v. Aacres Allvest, LLC 

Court of Appeals of Washington, Division Two 

September 3, 2014, Filed 

No. 44328-7-II 

Reporter 
2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 2191 

EARL Vernon, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL 

REPRESENTATIVE, APPELLANT, v. AACRES ALLVEST, LLC, 
ET AL., RESPONDENTS. 

PRIOR HisTORY: [*1] Appeal from Pierce County 
Superior Court. Docket No: 12-2-10662-8. Date 
filed: 12/14/2012. Judge signing: Honorable 
Ronald E Culpepper. 

Core Terms 

survival statute, wrongful death statute, economic 
damages, damages, superior court, cause of action, 
common law, courts, deceased, non economic 
damages, summary judgment, decedent's, 
disability, wrongful death, survived, constitutional 
right, argues, adult, funeral expenses, beneficiary, 
provides, tier, statutory framework, qualifying, 
manifest 

~ase Summary 

Overview 
HOLDINGS: [1]-The dismissal of the resident's 
brother's noneconomic damages claim under the 
wrongful death statute, W..Gs.h ..... R.<:..v. _(;Qd._g § 
4.20.020, was proper because the brother lacked 
standing as a statutory beneficiary and a wrongful 
death common law action would not be recognized 
that conflicted with the existing statutory 
framework. The brother admitted that he was not 
dependent on the decedent and the decedent was 
not survived by anyone who could satisfy the 
criteria to recover under the wrongful death statute 
as a designated beneficiary; [2]-The superior comt 
erred in dismissing the brother's economic 

damages claim because those damages were 

available under the general survival statute, Wash. 
Bf?.J!.._ (Qd._~ __ §_1,2Q,Q46{!.)., notwithstanding the 

absence of qualifying statutory beneficiaries. 

Outcome 
Judgment affirmed in part and reversed in part. 

LexisNexis® Headnotes 

Torts > ... > Remedies > Damages > Types of 
Damages 

Family Law > Family Protection & Welfare > 
Dependent & Disabled Adults > Abuse, 

Endangerment & Neglect 

HNJ Wash. Rev. C_pd.L§..Z1:..3.4.f._j_Q, unequivocally 
grants a decedent's estate the right to recover 

economic damages even absent qualifying